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I
While writing to his parents on May 9, 1863, Private Lewis Coe Bevier, a cook 
in the Third Corps Hospital, observed that “Their is an awful lot of wounded in 
the hospital now from that last battle in fredericksburg.”1 Indeed, the Battle of 
Chancellorsville, to which Bevier actually refers, had been a trying time for the 
regiments of Sickles’ Third Corps, including the 124th and Bevier’s own 120th. 
The campaign started off well enough. The troops were full of promise on April 
28, when they broke camp along the banks of the Rappahannock River and began 
marching eastward while the Fifth, Eleventh, and Twelfth Corps trudged to the 
west along the northern bank of the river in an attempt to encircle Lee’s army. 
The Third Corps, along with the First and Sixth, were part of Hooker’s initial 
grand deception of Lee, pinning his Army of Northern Virginia in place while 
three of Hooker’s corps slipped around and behind the Confederate entrench-
ments at Fredericksburg. Years later, Lieutenant Colonel Charles Weygant recalled 
this time when, as a captain in command of Company A of the 124th New York, 
his heavily laden men moved through a dense fog, carrying “in addition to…food, 
blankets, gun, and accoutrements; eighty rounds of ammunition, and a change of 
clothing.” He further commented that, “Just where we were going, or what was 
to be accomplished or attempted, were matters about which we could but specu-
late.”2 The following day, the First and Third Corps countermarched in the oppo-
site direction, following the rest of the army. It was at this time that the soldiers 
of the 120th, having just been paid, were in fine fettle as they moved westward, 
arriving at United States’ Ford around midnight,3 unaware of the nature of the 
hard fight to follow.

“Awful beyond description”:  
The Ordeal of the Hudson Valley 
Regiments in the Army of  
the Potomac in 1863
Mark James Morreale
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In his monograph on Chancellorsville, Stephen W. Sears describes “the 
Wilderness,” which the Third Corps was about to encounter:

Since colonial times the Wilderness had been the site of a nascent iron indus-

try, but all that remained of it now was Catharine Furnace.…Abandoned in 

the 1840s, the furnace had recently been reactivated to produce iron for the 

Confederate war machine. It was this iron industry that gave the Wilderness 

its distinctive character. Most of the first-growth timber had been cut to 

make charcoal to feed the furnaces and foundries, to be replaced by a second-

growth tangle of dwarf pine and cedar and hickory and a scrub oak known 

locally as blackjack. Undergrowth in this warped and pinched forest grew 

dense and brambly.4

In addition, much of the ground was uneven, occasionally swampy, and cut by 
unexpected ravines. It was within this “dark, eerie, impenetrable maze” that the 
120th and 124th New York would forever lose the descriptive term “green.” 

When it crossed into the Wilderness on May 1, the 124th was not at full 
strength. Since its initial recruitment in September 1862, and without yet losing  
a man in combat, the regiment had already been depleted by a third: thirty to 
typhoid, 100 to various illnesses and disabilities, fifteen to desertion, 100 more 
on sick leave, and thirty-five or so on detached duty elsewhere, including the 
ambulance corps.5 Such statistics typify this war, where more died of disease than 
bullets, and where discipline was not what it might have been in a professional 
army.6 

On the late afternoon and early evening of the first, the 124th and 120th 
stacked arms in the vicinity of the Chancellor House, where both of the divisions 
they belonged to—Whipple’s and Berry’s—were to be held in reserve.7 Hooker, 
however, “had now abandoned the offensive,” as Weygant phrased it, and the 
position of the reserve would soon become the front line. At noon on the fol-
lowing day, Sickles’ Corps detected the rear echelons of “Stonewall” Jackson’s 
famous flank attack moving in a southerly direction past the Third Corps picket 
line. Thinking that Lee was retreating, Sickles received permission from Hooker 
to advance. The 124th became part of this forward movement8 and soon was 
embroiled in its first firefight. “The next moment,” Weygant reported, “the sound 
of heavy musketry firing came from the woods in front and [Augustus Van Horne] 
Ellis [the 124th’s Colonel] hurried us forward up the hill…. Under such circum-
stances, Ellis was not the kind of man to wait for orders. Hurriedly forming a line 
of battle and placing himself in front of the colors, he ordered a charge.”9 Sergeant 
Reevs remembered the moment: “We were hurried on at double quick and the 
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balls began to whistle over our heads…. The rebs had planted themselves in the 
edge of the woods, and we had to cross an open field to get to them, besides a 
big ditch…. The rebs fired a volley into them [the 122nd Pennsylvania] and they 
broke and ran and put us all in confusion…”10

This precipitous advance began a seesaw battle for the 124th, falling back one 
moment, charging and retaking lost ground the next. However, they had to fall 
back permanently after Jackson’s Corps annihilated the Army of the Potomac’s 
XI Corps far off to the right and rear of the 124th’s position. That evening, the 
regiment, facing westward confronting Jackson’s Corps, became engaged in a rare 
night action. Weygant postulated that the 124th may have been responsible for 
the wounding and subsequent death of Jackson during this battle.11 The following 
day, a Private from Company E, 124th New York, observed in his diary: “Out of 
540 men that went in 160 came out with the colors.”12

As Howard’s panicked XI Corps fled east through the Chancellor House 
clearing, carrying men, pack mules, wagons, and materiel before it, Berry’s divi-
sion—and with it the 120th New York—had the task of stabilizing the deteriorat-
ing Union position with dusk and Jackson’s Corps coming on fast. Their colonel 
proudly proclaimed that the division, “with the cooperation of troops and artillery, 
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brought up by Pleasanton, just at this critical juncture, saved the Fifth Corps, 
lying in their [the Confederates’] front, from being flanked, and with it, prob-
ably, the routing of Hooker’s army at Chancellorsville.”13 The following morning, 
Jackson’s divisions—now under the command of J.E.B. Stuart—“made frequent 
and desperate attacks…upon the Union positions” and forced the eventual with-
drawal of Hooker’s army closer to the river. During this retreat on May 3, General 
Berry—the 120th’s division commander—was killed.14 As a result of this struggle, 
the 120th lost nine killed, forty-five wounded, and eighteen missing.15

As might be expected, May 3 was no less difficult for the tired men of the 
124th. While attempting to defend the clearing at Fairview, the regiment initially 
endured a severe shelling from Confederate batteries placed at Hazel Grove, the 
very part of the field Sickles had been forced to evacuate the day before and one 
of the few clear spots of high ground suitable for the deployment of artillery in the 
Wilderness. To alleviate the pressure on his line, Sickles once again called upon 
Ellis’s 124th. Weygant picks up the narrative:

Advancing through the woods directly towards us, was the 23rd North 

Carolina supported by another North Carolina regiment…. Thus far these 

Carolinians had swept away everything in front of them, but the terrific 

opening fire of the 124th, which was poured into their ranks when they 

were less than fifty yards off, not only brought the men of the 23rd to a halt 

but cause them to fall with their faces to the ground to escape its withering 

effect; and the principle part of the immediately answering bullets came 

from their supporting line…. In less than ten minutes this second line was 

brought to the ground, and the men of the first line sprang to their feet 

again, and poured into our ranks a most wicked volley…—and so the fight 

went on.16

Running low on ammunition and now facing Confederate reinforcements, 
the 124th again retired. Its color guard had been decimated, five out of nine being 
killed or wounded.17 In his official report, Colonel Ellis praised his men, saying 
they “fought like tigers” even in retreat.18 The regiment had been in continuous 
action from the early morning until it finally reached the Army of the Potomac’s 
newly reconstituted main line at four in the afternoon.19 

For Weygant and his fellow Orange Blossoms, the Battle of Chancellorsville 
had basically come to a close, but one more drama remained. After having lost 
one division commander (General Berry) the previous day, the Third Corps lost 
another—the 124th’s own General Amiel W. Whipple—on the fourth. Weygant 
witnessed the death: 
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About two o’clock I met General Whipple who…congratulated me on my 

fortunate escape from the picket line on Sunday morning [where Weygant 

had been wounded]. He then walked on a few yards and entered into 

conversation with a lieutenant of the 86th New York…[when] [p]resently I 

heard another thud, and hastily turning round to learn if any of the 124th 

had been struck, saw the general, who was not more than five rods away, 

reel and fall.20

The Union’s own famous marksmen, Berdan’s Sharpshooters, then hunted 
their Confederate counterparts down, killing at least three who had been sta-
tioned in the trees above.21 This was deadly, nerve-wracking warfare, another 
indication of how quickly this war was changing. Modern warfare had become a 
reality. So emblematic was this baptism of fire at Chancellorsville for the men of 
the 124th that Stephen Crane was inspired by their example when he wrote The 
Red Badge of Courage.22

II
A month passed before an event occurred that brought together in one place all 
four of the regiments under discussion here. The event was Lee’s second invasion 
of the North. The place was Gettysburg.

In a letter to his mother on June 3, Richard T. Van Wyck, of the 150th New 
York, lamented:

The 150th is destined to spend the pleasant summer months in, and in 

the vicinity of, this great metropolis [Baltimore]; whose band discoursed 

its melodious strains to throngs of visitors in the Park amid the plaudits of 

the enthusiastic Baltimoreans, while the echo comes to us in ten thousand 

different ways and shapes, that our Regiment is a good “institution,” a “Big 

Thing,” a “fortunate location by our Col.,” “out of harm’s way” also of the 

Rebs, and finally ending in the query, “who wouldn’t go for a soldier?”23

Less than two weeks later, on June 13, one senses the excitement in Van 
Wyck’s tone when he wrote his cousin Sarah, “We were greeted this morning 
with the news of another raid of the Rebs in Maryland…. A little variety just at 
present would be a fine thing, perhaps not so fine after we get out there and [are] 
deprived of our special privileges here. But I am willing to see some rough life 
now after such a season of apathy and indolence.”24 A few days later, in another 
letter to his mother, he excitedly proclaimed, “we are likely to have something 
to do with the Rebels before long.”25 Even so, his regiment stayed in Baltimore 
a while longer, as Van Wyck reported to his cousin on June 24: “You can faintly 
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imagine the excitement this raid of the Rebs has given the people of Baltimore. 
By this morning’s paper we learn of the possible collision of two armies upon the 
old battleground of Maryland. The result no one knows….”26 It would be his 
penultimate letter from Baltimore. Three days later, the men of the regiment were 
awestruck when they first beheld the Army of the Potomac spread out below their 
bivouac near Monocacy Bridge. Major Henry A. Gildersleeve vividly remembered 
the moment:

What a spectacle for a recruit to look upon. We were amazed at the length of 

the wagon trains and batteries of artillery as they filed into the valley below 

us and went into park for the night. Thousands of camp fires lighted up the 

region around, and we stood spell-bound at the sight of the vast enginery of 

war that was before us. It was in this camp, inspired by this spectacle, we first 

imbibed the true spirit of war, and nerved ourselves for the trying scenes we 

knew we must encounter, and desperate deeds which were before us.27

Meanwhile, a depressed Captain Weygant, recovering from his wounds 
received at Chancellorsville, mourned the loss of so many of his comrades in the 
124th New York.28 He was quickly distracted from such melancholy thought as 
his regiment, on June 6, was chosen to accompany Pleasanton’s Cavalry Corps on 
a secret mission to Beverly Ford (on the Rappahannock River), which resulted in 
the largest cavalry battle of the war, the Battle of Brandy Station on June 9. Here 
Weygant gained valuable command experience. With a detachment of two com-
panies numbering about sixty men, he was required to hold off an entire regiment 
of 300 dismounted cavalry, which he did successfully, but not without suffering 
substantial casualties.29 

By June 14, the 124th saw some important changes, as its old brigade and 
division, so cut up at Chancellorsville, was disbanded. It now became part of 
Brigadier General Hobart Ward’s brigade of Major General David Birney’s divi-
sion; Ward was a tough, intimidating veteran with experience in the Mexican 
War as well as with outstanding service during the Peninsula Campaign the year 
before.30 He would lead them well in the difficult days ahead. Immediately after 
this reorganization, the 124th (and the rest of the Third Corps) began the fate-
ful trip northward in pursuit of Lee. By the 16th, the regiment had reached the 
old Manassas battlefield; by the 19th, in a pouring rain, it approached Leesburg; 
by the 21st, it heard musketry in the direction of Winchester; by the 25th, the 
Corps crossed the Potomac River on pontoon boats at Edward’s Ferry after a gru-
eling thirty-mile march; by the 28th, the regiment had passed through Frederick, 
greeted in much the same way as the 120th would be (see below); after another 
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hard march of 25 miles, it reached Taneytown; and on the 30th it “pushed on to 
Emmetsburg.”31 In his diary, Captain Weygant recorded:

The men of our regiment are in tolerably good spirits but have lost consider-

able flesh during the last week, and complain bitterly whenever we start on 

a march, on the pain in their swollen, blistered feet. The country through 

which we have for several days been moving, is fertile and well cultivated. 

The villages contain many fine cottages, and the people generally appear to 

be strongly Union in sentiment.32

Ten miles away, just across the Mason-Dixon line, lay the quiet crossroads 
town of Gettysburg.

While the 124th had been engaged in a good deal of combat since 
Fredericksburg, Colonel Theodore Gates and his 20th Regiment New York State 
Militia (known also as the 80th New York State Volunteers) had seen little action 
since they had been given the soft assignment of guarding the Richmond and 
Potomac Railroad while being stationed at Aquia Creek and elsewhere.33 They 
deserved the rest, considering their experiences at both Second Manassas and 
Antietam the year before. They were veterans now and no doubt looked a bit more 
soberly at the possibility of renewed combat than did Van Wyck and his fellow 
soldiers in the 150th New York Volunteers. On June 27, the 80th was ordered 
to rejoin the First Corps, commanded by the highly regarded John Reynolds 
of Pennsylvania. It met up with Reynolds’ Corps just short of the Pennsylvania 
border.34

Lewis Coe Bevier, stationed at Aquia Creek, Virginia, had no idea where his 
own regiment, the 120th New York (still attached to Sickles’ Third Corps), had 
gone. In a letter to his parents, he speculated, “I suppose they are some where 
around harpers ferry after old Lee.”35 As someone with no combat experience 
would phrase it, Bevier exclaimed, “I think old Hooker will give him [illegible] 
before he gets out of pennsylvania and I hope he will take every one of them pris-
oner or else Kill them.”36 Still, Bevier was not so wrong about what his unit was 
up to, for his 120th New York, along with the 124th, soon experienced some hard 
marching to catch up with Lee’s rapidly moving army. Yet, some of this forced 
march—which began on June 24—was actually pleasant. The 120th’s Corporal 
Egbert Lewis of “I” Company remembered:

It was pleasant to look upon the comfortable homes, the fine orchards load-

ed with fruit, and the large fields of waving grain. The people with whom we 

conversed, were outspoken in their loyalty to the Union, and we felt that we 

were among friends. The ladies in many cities and villages through which 
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we passed, were wild with joy at the sight of the Union army, and welcomed 

us with patriotic songs and waving flags. Our men who visited houses along 

the line of march, found plenty of bread, pies, cakes, biscuits, milk, fruit, and 

vegetables, which were given to them or purchased at very low prices. Some 

of these loyal people did not keep enough for themselves to eat. In some of 

the towns and villages, ladies, with their servants, stood in front of their 

houses eagerly passing pure cold water to our thirsty soldiers.37

One cannot help but contrast this bucolic vision with what was about to 
occur.

A few days later, Lincoln replaced Hooker with Major General George 
Gordon Meade, until then the commander of Hooker’s Fifth Corps. In the par-
lance of the day, the ball was about to begin.

III
As part of the Army of the Potomac’s First Corps, the 20th New York Militia 
would be the first Hudson Valley regiment discussed in this study to reach the field 
at Gettysburg. The battle had begun around 5:30 on the morning of July 1, when 
Heth’s Confederate Division of A. P. Hill’s recently constituted Third Corps of 
the Army of Northern Virginia clashed with John Buford’s dismounted brigades 
of cavalry west of town.38 By 10 a.m., John Reynolds, commander of the Union 
army’s First Corps, had come to the rescue of Buford’s hard-pressed troopers by 
throwing into the fray Brigadier General James S. Wadsworth’s First Division 
(including the vaunted Iron Brigade). They came just at the right moment and in 
the right place, but within the hour Reynolds was dead,39 his command temporar-
ily falling into the hands of Abner Doubleday, the putative inventor of baseball. 
Then a lull settled on the battlefield as each side quickly brought up reinforce-
ments. Among these was Rowley’s Third Division of the late Reynolds’ First 
Corps, which included the 20th New York—28 officers and 259 men—who were 
placed to the left of the Iron Brigade near McPherson’s Woods (where Reynolds 
had fallen).40 

The 20th had been marching quickly toward the sounds of battle since 8 a.m.; 
when it arrived west of town, the regiment immediately formed a line of battle 
in the Hagerstown Road facing north.41 Then it marched directly toward the 
town of Gettysburg, creating a swath through the ripe fields, crossed Willoughby 
Run, and entered the battle in support of Buford’s skirmishers on McPherson’s 
Ridge. As it emerged onto the field of battle around 11 a.m., the regiment quickly 
suffered its first casualty. Captain Cook said the initial shock of this “incident 
thrilled every one with a sense of danger as great perhaps as that felt during the 
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battle itself.”42 Now facing directly west,43 the men proceeded over McPherson’s 
Ridge and into the ravine formed by the meandering run. “The field beyond it,” 
Gates explained in 1879, “was covered with grain, affording excellent shelter for 
the enemy’s sharpshooters, and the field was alive with them.”44 The position, 
therefore, was untenable. They were soon ordered back atop the ridge, the rest of 
the brigade forming a line of battle behind them on the downward slope. Here 
they stood exposed for twenty minutes.

Clearly visible somewhat over 200 yards beyond the run was the farm of E. 
Harmon.45 If not occupied quickly, it would become a haven for Confederate skir-
mishers.46 Ordered by General Wadsworth to occupy Harmon’s property before 
the Confederates did, Gates sent Captain Ambrose N. Baldwin’s K Company 
to perform the hazardous assignment.47 Amelia Harmon later recalled: “[I]n 
poured a stream of maddened, powder-blackened blue coats, who ordered us to 
the cellar, while they dispersed to the various west windows throughout the 
house.”48 Company K immediately became the target of Confederate atten-
tions. An hour later, Baldwin was in desperate need of help, so Gates sent him 
another company from the 20th, Captain William Cunningham’s Company G. 
The two isolated companies held the Harmon homestead for two more hours 
before, surrounded on three sides, they set several of the outbuildings on fire and 
withdrew.49 Miraculously, several harrowing hours later—and with the assistance 
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of the Union cavalry—the two companies made it back to the Union lines on 
Cemetery Hill. It was 1 p.m. The beleaguered First Corps and the cavalry it had 
come to support three hours earlier were now outnumbered as much as two to one 
by the divisions of A.P. Hill’s Third Corps to the west and Rodes’ recently arrived 
Division of Ewell’s Second Corps to the north.50

Soon after Rodes’ arrival, the entire Union line was on the verge of being 
flanked as plunging artillery fire from the heights of Oak Ridge began crashing 
down the length of the Union line, reaching Gates’ regiment approximately a 
mile away.51 This caused the 20th’s brigade to change its position once more, this 
time the right half facing to the north while Gates and the 151st Pennsylvania 
regiment (which he now also took command of), along with Cooper’s battery of 
artillery, continued to face the increasingly dangerous threat from the west. The 
20th’s Captain Cook saw Pettigrew’s North Carolinians coming. “In poetry and 
romance,” he remembered in 1903, “the Confederate uniform is gray. In actual 
service it was a butternut brown, and…was…as dirty, disreputable and unro-
mantic as can well be imagined.” Yet, he also admits that, despite their ragged 
appearance, “They could shoot all right and…gave us no time to criticize their 
appearance. Our men sprang to their feet, returned their fire, and the battle was 

Casualties on McPherson’s Ridge, Gettysburg
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on.”52 Not long after, both of the flanks of Biddle’s brigade were being threatened, 
so Cooper’s battery made good its escape. The 20th, with the rest of its brigade, 
found itself alone and retreat became the only option.53 The fallback was agoniz-
ingly slow and deliberate, including a last ditch defense on Seminary Ridge, and 
proved terribly costly for both sides.54 “The fighting,” as Gates put it, “for some 
time was now most desperate.”55 The brigade escaped by retreating directly down 
the railroad (a scene of heavy fighting earlier in the day), then into and through 
Gettysburg, finally resting on Cemetery Hill just outside town.56 It had already 
been a long, arduous day for the 20th, but their experience at Gettysburg had 
only just begun.

IV
That evening, the XII Corps finally began to arrive, occupying Culp’s Hill on the 
right of the Union line. Major Gildersleeve recalled that:

[T]he first unmistakable indications we discovered of a battle were the 

slightly wounded who were able to get back to the hospitals without assis-

tance. Then we began to encounter ambulances loaded with those who had 

been seriously wounded. Field hospitals were passed; we could hear the rattle 

of musketry and see the smoke of the conflict near at hand, and we soon 

found ourselves a part and parcel of the grand Army of the North, fighting 

among these hills, the battle of Gettysburg. The first missiles we saw were 

shells from some Rebel batteries passing over our heads.57

Van Wyck’s large but inexperienced 150th New York, trailing the rest of its 
division due to its inexperience with such marches, did not settle in until 8 a.m. 
on July 2.58 Writing to his friend Robert Johnston a few weeks after the battle, 
Van Wyck explained how the grueling forced marches were changing his soldierly 
habits:

[We] have got quite used to it, we have diminished our clothing to a shelter 

tent and rubber blanket, and a few kitchen tools, consisting of tin cup and 

fry pan, knife and fork, besides from one to three day’s rations of uncooked 

food, crackers, bacon, pork, coffee and sugar, and every rest or camp we 

speedily make a cup of coffee.59

The Third Corps, with the 120th and 124th New York, had reached the 
field as well, starting to arrive around 2 a.m. on July 2. The 124th seemed to have 
suffered very much on the march to Emmitsburg the day before; Weygant noted 
that only 264 men met muster that morning; an additional ninety-eight men 
from the Orange Blossoms had fallen out due to sunstroke, disease, and physical 
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exhaustion.60 Despite their fatigue, the men seemed confident of success in what 
lay ahead. It was not until 2 p.m. on the 1st, when the battle had already been 
raging for several hours, that the Third Corps began to move. By then, they could 
distinctly hear the rumble of artillery up ahead, a sound that spurred them on. 
Weygant observed that:

Every piece of woods we passed through was left almost filled with gasping 

prostrate men; and all along the road, with no one to care for them, lay the 

dying, and in not a few instances the dead, who had fallen from the column 

ahead of us. But forward! forward! was the cry, and on, on we pushed.…

[A]nd when at length we reached the high ground just south of Gettysburg, 

and the order to halt for the night was received, not over a hundred men and 

but five or six officers appeared in our regimental line.61

The remainder of the regiment straggled in throughout the rest of the day and 
into the late morning of July 2. Weygant’s experience was similar to that of the 
men of the 120th. However, their placement in the line was farther to the right, 
nearer to Hancock’s Second Corps than the 124th, whose brigade anchored the 
far left of the Union position.

Sometime in the early afternoon, Sickles advanced his entire corps, their 
banners fluttering in the breeze, several hundred yards forward to the high ground 
around what forever more became known as the Peach Orchard and Devil’s Den 
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(actually part of Houck’s Ridge), between which lay the Rose farmstead and the 
infamous Wheatfield. Watching this unexpected movement from Cemetery Ridge, 
Captain Samuel C. Armstrong of Company D of the 125th New York called the 
advance “magnificent.” (A few hours later, he described its bloody repulse as “ter-
rible.”62) Unfortunately for Sickles’ Third Corps, both its flanks would be “in 
the air” and no amount of reinforcements from the Fifth or Second Corps would 
save it from its fate. Captain Weygant’s 124th New York felt the onslaught of 
Longstreet’s attack first.

Despite their combat experience, Weygant’s men spent their leisure time 
“quietly awaiting the coming shock” rather than building breastworks,63 some-
thing both sides would do as a matter of course during the Overland Campaign 
in Virginia the following year.64 Then around 3 p.m., Lee’s artillery opened up 
upon Sickles’ advanced line; an hour later, “long solid lines of infantry appeared 
advancing directly against” the position of Ward’s brigade.65 As on the first day of 
the battle, Lee mustered overwhelming numbers at the point of attack.66 By the 
time five o’clock arrived, Captain Weygant was the 124th’s new regimental com-
mander. The small 124th67 was deployed by companies thusly: B G K E H C I D 
F A, with Weygant’s Company A being deployed as skirmishers in the woods to 
the regiment’s right, trying to cover a 100-yard gap between the 124th’s right and 
the 86th New York’s left. To the 124th’s left (at least its left as the battle opened) 
were placed four cannons from James E. Smith’s 4th New York Battery, composed 
of ten-pound Parrotts.68

As the First Texas regiment slowly pressed its attack up the steep slope leading 
to the 124th’s position, Major Cromwell pleaded with his regimental commander, 
Colonel Ellis, to charge. This Ellis initially refused to do. When the officers’ hors-
es were brought up, Ellis, while mounting his steed, purportedly declared, “The 
men must see us today,” then agreed to Cromwell’s request.69 Weygant described 
this heady moment:

Cromwell waves his sword twice above his head, makes a lunge forward, 

shouts the charge, and putting spurs to his horse, dashes forward through 

the lines. Then men cease firing for a minute and with ready bayonets rush 

after him. Ellis sits in his saddle and looks on as if in proud admiration of 

both his loved Major and gallant sons of Orange.70

The First Texas, according to Weygant, “broke and fled.” Cromwell was jubi-
lant, but a volley from a second line of Confederates coming up behind the First 
Texas “seemed in an instant to bring down a full quarter” of the 124th’s men.71 
Moments later, Cromwell fell from his horse, shot through the chest. Even so, 
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the 124th turned back this second line before a 
third appeared behind it, forcing the thinning 
ranks of the regiment back up the slope.72 At this 
moment, Lieutenant Colonel Cummins, seeing 
that the 124th could no longer protect Smith’s 
guns, tried to have them moved but was badly 
wounded by a shell that hit the gun carriage he 
was standing near.73 Of the senior officers of the 
regiment, only Ellis remained. However, making 
a prominent target high up on his grey horse, he 
had but moments to live: “his body with a weave 
pitches forward, head foremost among the rocks.” 
He had been shot just above his visor, brain mat-
ter oozing from his wound.74 By now, the hard-
pressed Third Corps had been reinforced by the 
Fifth Corps and parts of the Second Corps. It was 
time to withdraw the 124th from the ridge, which 
Weygant managed skillfully.75

In addition to the three senior officers of the 
regiment, the 124th lost Captain Isaac Nicoll 

of Company G and 2nd Lieutenant Milner Brown of Company I—in all, some 
thirty-four killed and fifty-seven wounded.76 As Longstreet’s attack continued 
to push both east and north, it also smashed into Brewster’s “Excelsior” brigade 
anxiously awaiting its fury in the Peach Orchard, just north of the 124th’s posi-
tion. Kingston’s 120th New York was about to have its mettle tested once again. 
As Private Esick G. Wilber wrote to his parents, “This will be a day long to be 
remembered by the survivers of that terable battle.”77

While the majority of the Excelsior Brigade was on the front line facing west 
along the southern edge of Emmitsburg Road, the 120th (along with the 73rd New 
York) found itself placed initially in reserve some 150 yards behind the main line. 
As Ward’s brigade struggled in and around Devil’s Den to the south of the 120th’s 
position, and as De Trobriand’s brigade—with assistance from Barnes’ First 
Division of Sykes’ Fifth Corps—became embroiled in the chaotic fight for the 
Wheatfield78 and “Stony Hill” (just across the road from the Peach Orchard), so 
Sickles’ hold on the Peach Orchard itself became more and more precarious. The 
position was being threatened not only on its left flank from the tenuous hold the 
Union army had in the Wheatfield—Caldwell’s Second Division of Hancock’s 
Second Corps would soon be caught in this maelstrom as well—but was threatened 
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in its front by the remaining brigades of 
McLaws’ Division, Wofford’s Georgians, 
and Barksdale’s Mississippians in partic-
ular.79 In addition, the Peach Orchard 
had been enfiladed by artillery fire from 
Longstreet’s well-placed batteries since 
3 p.m.80 

About half an hour into the bom-
bardment prior to the Confederate 
assault, the Third Corps requested help 
from the Artillery Reserve. Lieutenant 
Colonel Freeman McGilvery, com-
mander of the First Volunteer Brigade, 
Artillery Reserve, sent, among other 
batteries, Captain John Bigelow’s 9th 
Massachusetts Light battery of Napoleon 
12-pounder smoothbores and had posted 
them about 400 yards in front of the Trostle Farm, approximately 500 yards 
behind the Peach Orchard and facing on the Wheatfield Road.81 McGilvrey’s 
batteries devastated Kershaw’s ranks before they became prey to Barksdale’s 
charge.82 Later that day they played a role in the dramatic entrance onto the field 
of Poughkeepsie’s 150th New York regiment.83

Sometime after four o’clock, Corporal Egbert Lewis of I Company, 120th New 
York, could see from his position in the reserve “Long line[s] of infantry…advanc-
ing towards us under a rapid fire from our batteries” posted along the Emmitsburg 
and Wheatfield Roads.84 Lewis further stated that his regiment was “now alone 
in the reserve, the men…lying down with orders not to rise till they received 
the word of command.”85 Waiting for his turn to enter the fray, Private Wilber 
declared, “We watched the moves of the battle with anxious hearts.”86 As the 
remnants of Graham’s regiments fled through their lines, Graham himself having 
been wounded and subsequently captured, the 120th’s moment came: “The whole 
line rose as a man and poured into their ranks [probably the 18th Mississippi] 
such a terrible fire of musketry, as to bring them to a standstill within a few rods 
of us. Then for an hour or more, the dreadful crash of battle resounded.”87 Private 
Wilber remembered it this way:

[M]utering a silent prayr for the preservasion of my life I entered that battle 

field: with one wild yell we advanced on the enemy but they were comeing 

to strong[.] [W]e no more then advanced before we were oblieged to fall 
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back[.] [A]t this time they had a cross fire on us and they were poreing in 

from three different ways […] My Comrads were falling on evry side of me 

and I expected evry minut that it would be my turn next[.] Captain Barker 

[of K Company] fell shot dead instantly[.] [T]he ball went through his head 

just back of his ears right through his brain[.]88

Colonel Westbrook, the 120th’s commander, wrote about his experiences 
at Gettysburg just once, in the September 20, 1900, National Tribune.89 In the 
article, entitled “On the Firing Line: The 120th N.Y.’s Firm Stand on the Second 
Day at Gettysburg,” Westbrook insisted that his regiment went into action 
around 6:30 and that Graham’s brigade was “broken up” about half an hour ear-
lier.90 He rightly noted that as Barksdale (rolling up Humphrey’s flank along the 
Emmitsburg Road) was surprised by his regiment as it rose up from the low stone 
wall it had been laying behind, three additional Confederate brigades were bear-
ing down upon the Army of the Potomac’s center on Cemetery Ridge. These were 
the brigades of Major General R.H. Anderson’s Division from A.P. Hill’s Third 
Corps. As Sickles’ battered Corps began its fighting retreat from Sherfy’s Peach 
Orchard and the Emmitsburg Road area back toward Cemetery Ridge and right 
into the teeth of Anderson’s attack,91 McGilvrey’s batteries along the Wheatfield 
Road became extremely vulnerable. In a heroic delaying action, Bigelow’s battery 
retreated 400 yards by prolonge, firing as it went, back to the Trostle farm before 
having to abandon four of its six Napoleons to the relentless 21st Mississippi, 
which had veered off Barksdale’s main attack to capture these guns.92

Barksdale’s regiments had swept all before them but they had reached their 
zenith. Within the hour, as darkness came on, his 
tired men, decimated to around half their original 
number, could do no more. Reinforcements from 
the Second Corps slammed into his regiments near 
Plum Run, and Barksdale’s day—and war—was 
over, his sword as well as his body shattered by a 
vicious volley from the 125th and 126th New York 
regiments of Willard’s Brigade.93

In the falling darkness, the 150th New York 
had its first moment in this horrific struggle. 
Quickly moving from its position on the far right 
of the Union line near Culp’s Hill, Lockwood’s 
Brigade was sent to shore up Sickles’ patchwork 
line and perhaps even counterattack as Willard’s 
Brigade had done.94 Brigadier General Alpheus S. 
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Williams, who commanded the Twelfth Corps at Gettysburg, explained the role 
of Lockwood’s Brigade at this crucial moment in an April 21, 1864, letter to John 
Batchelder:

Hurrying to the right up this road I soon began to pass masses of disorga-

nized portions of the 3d Corps…. I saw nothing but broken troops until 

entering an open space almost surrounded by woods. I found some artillery 

in position. Lieut. Col. (then Major I think) [Freeman] McGilvery rushed 

towards me reporting that he was without [infantry] support and that the 

rebels but a short time before had drawn off several pieces of artillery. I 

directed Lockwood…to deploy and attack the woods at once, which he did 

promptly. Three pieces of artillery were retaken by his brigade. They were 

drawn off by companies of the 150th N.Y.95

As they went into battle, quick-marching in columns of four down the Granite 
Schoolhouse Lane toward the Trostle farm, the men of the 150th were greeted by 
several wounded New Yorkers “with shouts of ‘Go in, Dutchess County! Give it to 
them, boys! Give it to them!’”96 By 8 p.m., they had advanced a good half-mile in 
front of the Union main lines with little opposition.97 They could not stay there, 
of course, and as they retired, dragging three of Bigelow’s guns with them, their 
day was done, except for the return trek to the Twelfth Corps lines, which they 
did not return to until somewhat before midnight. They would be terribly busy 
in the morning.

V
As the 150th New York returned to its original position within some breastworks 
around Culp’s Hill, it was met with a nasty surprise. In their absence, their brigade 
commander recalled years later, enemy pickets had taken the opportunity to occu-
py their position. They rested on their arms. Early in the morning of July 3, they 
were asked to retake the ground the Corps had lost the night before.98 Sometime 
after midnight, Alpheus Williams, in temporary command of the Twelfth Corps, 
was ordered by General Slocum to “drive them out at daylight.”99 Williams felt 
this task would be difficult. Having a decided advantage in artillery, he began the 
attack with a fifteen- or twenty-minute bombardment followed by an assault sup-
ported by Lockwood’s brigade. Williams observed that, “The whole line of woods 
were ablaze with continuous volleys, especially on Geary’s front [where the 150th 
had been posted], against which they hurled their columns with a most persistent 
determination.” This firefight continued until nearly 11 a.m., “when their whole 
line suddenly retreated.” An amazed Williams proclaimed, “This was over six 
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hours of almost continuous firing!”100

This event was far more memorable in Richard Van Wyck’s mind than the 
capture of the guns on Trostle’s farm had been but a few hours earlier, even though 
that had marked his introduction to battle. In a letter to his father he confessed:

I never was on a battlefield before and the Lord preserve me from such a 

sight again. Some were wounded in our company and but few killed in 

the Regt. This was owing to the protection of breastworks behind which 

we did terrible execution, literally piling the Rebs up in masses. In front 

of our Regt. alone in one place where the enemy was agoing to charge, at 

least five hundred were killed and some 1700 stocks of arms captured….  

I wish I could give you my impression of the scene, which was awful beyond 

description.101

Breastworks on Little Round Top, Gettysburg
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The 150th’s service at Gettysburg had come to an end with relatively few 
casualties, but the long third and final day of the Battle of Gettysburg was just 
beginning.102

The 20th New York State Militia had, for the most part, rested on the second 
day of battle, aside from helping repulse Anderson’s unsupported attack on the 
center of the line late in the day. Around 11 a.m., as the battle for Culp’s Hill 
quieted down behind them, the men of the 20th complained of the heat. Soldiers 
speculated about what would happen next. They did not have long to wait.

Lieutenant Colonel Jacob Broadhead Hardenburgh of the 20th surveyed 
the position his regiment found itself in, some 300 yards to the right of what 
became the most famous copse of trees in nineteenth-century America—the 
point at which Pickett’s Charge was shortly destined to converge. Around noon, 
Hardenburgh, concerned that his men had not yet eaten, requested rations, but 
General Doubleday told him nothing could be done for them. An attack, he was 
told, was expected soon. Indeed, an hour later, the famous cannonade preceding 
Pickett’s Charge commenced. The men of the 20th, Hardenburgh recalled, “were 
smoking and joking while they [Stannard’s Vermont Brigade, situated to the 
regiment’s left] lay there hugging the ground and big drops of perspiration stood 
out on their foreheads and faces.”103 They endured this barrage for upwards of 
two terrifying hours. Colonel Gates called the bombardment “a tempest of shot 
and shell.”104 Even so, some members of the regiment’s color guard displayed reck-
less bravado by waving the regimental colors at the Confederates, taunting them 
to advance. As the thirteen Confederate brigades came closer and began their 
oblique rush toward the clump of trees, the 20th and 151st Pennsylvania—Colonel 
Theodore Gates’ demi-brigade—swung their lines to the right (as Stannard’s 
Vermonters also did). Posting themselves atop a hill in front of the copse of trees, 
they poured volley after volley into the exposed flank of the oncoming but rapidly 
thinning Confederate lines.105

A Union soldier serving in the 8th Ohio posted on the opposite flank of the 
Union line from the 20th New York vividly remembered the moment when the 
Union infantry rose as one and opened up on the packed Confederate formations, 
a sight that must have equally impressed the men of the 20th on the left flank: 

“Arms, heads, blankets, guns and knapsacks were thrown into the air. Their track, 
as they advanced, was strewn with dead and wounded. A moan went up from the 
field, distinct to be heard amid the storm of battle, but on they went.”106 And 
as they came yet nearer, the 20th’s Major Walter A. Van Rensselaer, who had 
slept fitfully on the night of the second “with a stone for a pillow,” closed with 
the enemy in his immediate front. In his diary that evening, he noted that the 
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regiment:

followed up alon[g] the fence pouring in a tremendous fire…when near a 

slash of timber,107 I discovered a Rebel flag behind the fence in the hands of 

an officer—I demanded its surrender—he replied, “not by a d__d sight” and 

fired at me with his revolver, wounding me in the small of the back. I lunged 

at him with my saber when he fired again, the ball striking my saber scab-

bard—five or six of my boys came to the rescue and he surrendered, followed 

by his whole regiment—they cam over the fence like a flock of sheep—think 

we captured at least 1500 prisoners. Soon after[,] a shell burst directly over 

and very near my head knocking me senseless.108

Colonel Gates concluded that “I lost during the three days, three officers 
killed, fifteen wounded and one taken prisoner, [enlisted] men killed, thirty-two, 
wounded ninety-six, and twenty-three were taken prisoners…. My loss in killed 
and wounded was two-thirds of my officers and half of my men.”109 For the rest of 
his life, he was justifiably proud of the praise heaped upon him by his divisional 
commander, Abner Doubleday, concerning the conduct of the demi-brigade dur-
ing the battle.110

VI
“I tell you,” wrote Confederate Lieutenant John Dooley in his journal just before 
participating in Pickett’s Charge, “there is no romance in making one of these 
charges. You might think so…but when you rise to your feet…the enthusiasm 
of ardent breasts in many cases ain’t there, and instead of burning to avenge the 
insults of our country, families and altars and firesides, the thought is most fre-
quently, Oh, if I could just come out of this charge safely how thankful would I 
be!”111 Indeed, all the romance of the war had ended the moment Pickett’s Charge 
did, despite the claims of Lost Cause advocates after the war like Jubal Early. The 
aftermath of that disastrous charge was a sight that haunted many a participant 
years after the war. Captain Benjamin W. Thompson, Company F, 111th New 
York, captured the scene in all its horror: 

The track of the great charge was marked by bodies of men in all possible 

positions, wounded, bleeding, dying and dead. Near the line where the final 

struggle occurred, the men lay in heaps, the wounded wriggling and groan-

ing under the weight of the dead among whom they were entangled. In my 

weak and exhausted condition I could not long endure the gory, ghastly 

spectacle. I found my head reeling, the tears flowing, and my stomach sick 

at the sight.112
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What remained now was caring for the wounded and burying the often 
bloated and distorted bodies of the dead. It is no wonder that Henry Howell of 
the 124th New York declared, “I hope I may never have an opportunity to do 
so again” after being detailed to bury his regiment’s dead scattered about Devil’s 
Den. (They had arrived at an advanced stage of putrefaction, having sat under 
a broiling sun for two days.113) The battlefield ghouls had no doubt been out on 
this part of line as they had been in front of the Union center. As Sergeant T.P. 
Meyer noted: “It was a rare occurrence to find one who had not been robbed by 
the battlefield bandit or robber of the dead…. The battlefield robbers were well 
known by the large amounts of money they had, and the watches, pocketbooks, 
pocket knives, and other valuable trinkets they had for sale after the battle. All 
regiments had them.”114 

The wounded suffered terribly over the next several days. As Captain 
Weygant observed:

The scene at the [Third Corps] hospital was one of the most horrid imagin-

able. During the afternoon and evening nearly three thousand wounded 

men had been brought there, and others were continually arriving. The 

ground of the entire grove, which was several acres in extant, seemed to 

be literally covered with them; and such noises filled the air as I had never 

heard before and trust may never reach my ears again.…Away down through 

the trees flickering lights could be seen, the reflections of which fell with 

ghastly effect upon the corps of surgeons who with coats off, and sleeves 

rolled up, were gathered at, or moving rapidly to and fro about the amputat-

ing tables.”

Pickett’s Field, Gettysburg National Military Park
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Even this battle-hardened veteran “could endure no more” of these sights and 
sounds, especially the eerie melancholy rhythm of saw on bone. He fled with a 
profound sense of shame.115 

A few days after the battle, an inexperienced volunteer nurse named Cornelia 
Hancock arrived at Gettysburg. Appalled by what she saw there, she shattered all 
the high-flown rhetoric imposed on what this conflict might have meant:

A sickening, overpowering, awful stench announced the presence of the 

unburied dead…until it seemed to possess a palpable horrible density that 

could be seen and felt and cut with a knife. Not the presence of the dead 

bodies themselves, swollen and disfigured as they were, and lying in heaps 

on every side, was as awful to the spectator as that deadly, nauseating atmo-

sphere which robbed the battlefield of its glory, the survivors of their victory, 

and the wounded of what little chance of life was left to them.116

VII
While his 120th New York was sustaining upwards of forty-five percent casualties 
at Gettysburg, hospital cook Lewis Coe Bevier had managed to wrangle a pass 
to Washington, D.C., where he visited the Smithsonian, the Capitol, the White 
House, and other sites of interest. However, he had kept up with the momentous 
events occurring in Pennsylvania and had heard how the 124th New York—a 
sister regiment of his own—had been badly “cut up,” as well as the fact that one of 
his friends from the 120th, Charles DuBois, had been counted among the missing. 
Many more he knew had been killed or wounded. As he so succinctly put it, “I 
suppose their isent many left in our regiment.”117

But what had happened to Charley DuBois? His story represents the fate of 
hundreds, perhaps thousands, of others. On September 27, Dr. John N. Miller, an 
assistant surgeon of the 120th New York, replied to a friend: 

You asked me about Charley DuBois. I can only say that I think he is safe 

either in some hospital or with some farmer in Pennsylvania. I have been 

asked about him more than a dozen times by people from the Landing [now 

Highland, New York]. The only possible way that he may have been killed 

and buried unknown, is, that he may have been forced into some other regi-

ment during the fight, which is always done with those who get lost from 

their own regiment during a fight. He certainly was not killed or wounded 

or taken prisoner from our regiment. I advise his folks not to be too worried 

about it for I think he will turn up sooner or later.118
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Unbeknownst to Dr. Miller, DuBois’ body had been found by a comrade, 
Ezekiel H. Winter; with the help of others, he had buried him on the field of 
Gettysburg months before Miller’s letter had been written.119 This fact was not 
publicly known until a regimental chaplain published a history of the 120th New 
York in the 1890s.120

Note: For their assistance in locating numerous sources, I would especially like to 
thank Eric Roth, Archivist/Librarian of the Huguenot Historical Society; Lynn Lucas, 
Local History Librarian of the Adriance Memorial Library; and John Heiser, Historian 
for the Gettysburg National Military Park Library. Finally, I would be remiss if I did 
not also mention Seward Osborne who kept me on the straight and narrow regarding 
numerous details of the 20th New York’s experiences at Gettysburg.
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